ORIGINAL

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2013-001096

Phillip Morgan, Individually and on Behalf of All Similarly Situated
Plaintiffs.....Appellant,

v.

South Carolina Department of Revenue; South Carolina Division of State Information
Technology; the Office of the Governor of the State of South Carolina; and Trustwave
Holdings, Inc.....Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

RECEIVED
JAN 16 2014
SC Court of Appeals

John Hawkins
Logan Rollins
P.O. Box 5048
Spartanburg, SC 29304
Telephone: 864-574-8801
ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR BY CONSTRUING TRUSTWAVE'S MOTION TO DISMISS AS A 12(B)(6) MOTION AND BY DISMISSING PLAINTIFF'S CLAIMS WITH PREJUDICE?
- II. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR BY DISMISSING PLAINTIFF'S CLAIMS PURSUANT TO 12(B)(1), BY DISMISSING FOR AN ABSENCE OF DAMAGES/STANDING, AND BY CONSTRUING S.C. CODE ANN. § 1-11-490 AND 39-1-90 AS MERE "NOTICE" STATUTES SO AS TO WARRANT DISMISSAL?
- III. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR BY FINDING THAT PLAINTIFF'S CLAIMS WERE BARRED BY THE TORT CLAIMS ACT?
- IV. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR BY FINDING THAT THE DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE WAS NOT SUBJECT TO A CLASS-ACTION SUIT?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiff filed this suit as a class action in an Amended Complaint of November 5, 2012 alleging, as to the State Defendants (Office of the Governor, South Carolina Department of Revenue, and South Carolina Division of State Information Technology), causes of action for violation of S.C. Code Ann. §1-11-490, Gross Negligence, Gross Negligence *per se*, and Civil Conspiracy. As to Trustwave Holdings, Inc., Plaintiff alleged causes of action for violation of S.C. Code Ann. §39-1-90, negligence *per se*, negligence, and civil conspiracy.

In *lieu* of answering the Amended Complaint, all Defendants filed motions to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(1) and 12(b)(6) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure, for lack of standing, for lack of damages, and for mootness. A hearing was held before the Honorable G. Thomas Cooper in Richland County on February 7, 2013.

Plaintiff filed an Affidavit of Default as to Trustwave on December 18, 2012, and the Court quashed the default or “in the alternative” set it aside by a February 27, 2012 Order that was not appealed by Plaintiff. The Parties consented to the dismissal of Defendant Trustwave Corporation, which Counsel for Trustwave represented as not being a currently existing legal entity. The Court also dismissed Nimrata “Nikki” Haley and James F. Etter personally by another unappealed Order.

In separately filed Orders, Judge Cooper dismissed all claims brought in the suit. In the first Order, he dismissed the Department of Revenue and the Office of the Governor pursuant to Rules 12(b)(1) and 12(b)(6). Judge Cooper specifically found that Plaintiff lacked constitutional standing, as well as statutory standing. In addition, he found that the claims brought against the Department of Revenue and Office of the

Governor were moot. He also found that S.C. Code Ann. §1-11-490 was a mere "notice" statute. He found specifically that Plaintiff's allegations of damages were insufficient because they constituted only an "increased risk of future harm" (Record on Appeal Vol. 1, pp. 319 – 339) Finally, he dismissed the Civil Conspiracy claim and found that a class action against the Department of Revenue was impermissible under S.C. Code Ann. §12-60-80 (C).

In the second Order, Judge Cooper dismissed Trustwave. He specifically dismissed the Civil Conspiracy claim and dismissed Plaintiff's claim for breach of South Carolina Code Ann. § 39-1-90 on the basis that Trustwave did not either "own or license computer data" or "maintain computerized data." He found that Plaintiff's negligence *per se* claim was not established because Plaintiff did not prove that Trustwave violated S.C. Code Ann. § 39-1-90. Finally, he determined that Trustwave owed no duty to Plaintiff because S.C. Code Ann. § 39-1-90 did not create a duty as to Trustwave. He also found that Plaintiff did not suffer a legally cognizable injury. Finally, he found that the Economic Loss Rule barred recovery.

In the third Order, the circuit court dismissed the suit against the South Carolina Division of State Information Technology ("DSIT") because Plaintiff lacked standing by failure to establish that he had suffered an injury-in-fact, because S.C. Code Ann. § 1-11-490 did not confer standing, and because DSIT had complied with its duties under S.C. Code Ann. § 1-11-490. The Court specifically found that DSIT did not "own or license" the personal identifying information at issue. Finally, the court determined that Plaintiff's gross negligence claim failed as a matter of law because DSIT owed no duties to Plaintiff. Plaintiff filed a Motion For Reconsideration on March 13, 2013 and an

amended Motion For Reconsideration on March 13, 2013. Plaintiff specifically requested that the Order be amended to be without prejudice, as well as taking exception to the Orders' other grounds for dismissing the suit.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

In the fall of 2012, hackers illegally accessed South Carolina taxpayers' information stored in Department of Revenue databases housed in the Division of State Information Technology. The exfiltrated information contained personal identifying information. Approximately 3.6 Social Security numbers (including those of minor children who had never filed tax returns), approximately 387,000 credit and/or debit card numbers, and an unknown number of tax returns and other documents were obtained. The facts of this case gained national attention. Despite the notoriety of this case, the specific roles played by each of the Defendants in this suit remain largely unknown, and no discovery was conducted prior to this suit's being dismissed.

ARGUMENT

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED BY DETERMINING THAT TRUSTWAVE'S MOTION TO DISMISS WAS A 12(B)(6) MOTION AND ERRED IN GRANTING THE MOTIONS TO DISMISS WITH PREJUDICE PRIOR TO GIVING THE PARTIES AN OPPORTUNITY TO ENGAGE IN DISCOVERY

When a party moves to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6), "[t]he motion cannot be sustained if facts alleged in the complaint *and inferences reasonably deducible therefrom would entitle plaintiff to any relief on any theory of the case.*" Brown v. Leverette, 291 S.C. 364, 353 S.E.2d 697, (1984) (emphasis added) (citations omitted). In addition, "[i]n

determining whether any triable issues of fact exist, the evidence and all inferences which can be reasonably drawn from the evidence must be viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party.” Hancock v. Mid South Management Co., Inc., 381 S.C. 326, 329-30, 673 S.E.2d 801, 802 (2009).

The Brown Court stated:

Rule 12(b)(6) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure provides in pertinent part that: “[I]f on a motion asserting the defense numbered (6) to dismiss for failure to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action, *matters outside the pleading are presented to and not excluded by the Court, the motion shall be treated as one for summary judgment and disposed of as provided in Rule 56, and all parties shall be given reasonable opportunity to present all material made pertinent to such a motion by Rule 56.*” [Emphasis in original].

[. . .] It is our view the language of the Rule is clear, and it states plainly that the trial court may treat a 12(b)(6) motion as a motion for summary judgment and consider matters presented outside of the pleadings *if* the parties are afforded a reasonable opportunity to respond to such matters in accordance with Rule 56(c) and (e) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure. Brown, 291 S.C. at 366-67, 698, 673 S.E.2d at 698.

Hence, if a party asks the court to consider materials other than the Complaint to make its determination, the party purportedly seeking a 12(b)(6) dismissal of the action, in fact, converts its 12(b)(6) motion into a motion for summary judgment, regardless of its appellation. The Supreme Court of South Carolina has held:

Since it is a drastic remedy, summary judgment “should be cautiously invoked so that no person will be improperly deprived of a trial of the disputed factual issues.” [. . .] (“an extreme remedy to be cautiously invoked”). This means, among other things, that summary judgment must not be granted until the opposing party has had a full and fair opportunity to complete discovery.

Baughman v. American Telephone and Telegraph Co., 306 S.C. 101, 112, 410 S.E.2d 537, 543 (1991). (Internal Citations Omitted). In Baughman, the Court reversed the trial

court's granting of partial summary judgment because of the Plaintiffs "acted with due diligence" in acquiring an expert and propounding discovery to the Defendants. The Court concluded that the Defendants could renew their motions "once Plaintiffs have been afforded an adequate opportunity to complete discovery [. . .]" *Id.* at 114, 545.

By supplementing its Motion with affidavits, Trustwave made a motion for summary judgment, which cannot be granted, in accordance with the above analysis, until the parties have had the opportunity to engage in discovery. Accordingly, Trustwave's Motion should have been denied.

Furthermore, Plaintiff requested leave to amend his complaint *in lieu* of dismissal. South Carolina precedent is clear on the liberality with which motions to amend must be granted:

When a complaint is dismissed under Rule 12(b)(6) for failure to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action, the dismissal generally is without prejudice. The plaintiff in most cases should be given an opportunity to file and serve an amended complaint. Rule 15(a) declares that leave to amend 'shall be freely given when justice so requires'; this mandate is to be heeded [. . .] If the underlying facts or circumstances relied upon by a plaintiff may be a proper subject of relief, he ought to be afforded an opportunity to test his claim on the merits. In the absence of any apparent or declared reason—such as undue delay, bad faith or dilatory motive on the part of the movant, repeated failure to cure deficiencies by amendments previously allowed, undue prejudice to the opposing party by virtue of allowance of the amendment, futility of amendment, etc.—the leave sought should, as the rules require, be 'freely given.' Of course, the grant or denial of an opportunity to amend is within the discretion of the District Court, but outright refusal to grant the leave without any justifying reason appearing for the denial is not an exercise of discretion; it is merely abuse of that discretion and inconsistent with the spirit of the Federal Rules.

Spence v. Spence, 368 S.C. 106, 129, 628 S.E.2d 869, 881 (2006) Citing Foman v. Davis 371 U.S. 17 (2006). In the case at bar, the circuit court, quite simply, gave *literally no*

explanation as to why the dismissal was with prejudice in its two-paragraph order. (Record on Appeal Vol. 1 pp. 387-388)

Plaintiff's causes of action against Trustwave were dismissed, in large part, because "[t]he only allegation made as to the Trustwave Defendants is that '[u]pon information and belief, Defendants Trustwave and Trustwave Holdings were charged with the duty of securing the personal identifying information' instead of the Complaints stating, literally, 'Trustwave Defendants own, license or maintain the personally identifying information at issue.'" (Record on Appeal Vol. 1 pp. 363-369). At the hearing for this matter, counsel for Plaintiff argued that the issue of what constitutes ownership and maintenance of the data was a question of fact to be determined through discovery. Similarly, the Order dismissing DSIT finds that DSIT did not own, maintain, or license the data (in spite of counsel for DSIT's concession that DSIT was the "landlord" for said data). The fact that Plaintiff's Complaint stated that the Defendants in this suit "secured" or controlled the data clearly articulates the role Plaintiff alleges the Defendants had, and Plaintiff clearly invoked both S.C. Code Ann. § 1-11-490 and S.C. Code Ann. § 39-1-90 when requesting relief. The mere fact that Plaintiff did not use the words "maintain" or "own" does not warrant dismissal of the action with prejudice when such a semantic distinction can be easily amended since "[i]t is the substance of the requested relief that matters regardless of the form in which the request for relief was framed." Cole Vision Corp. v. Hobbs, 394 S.C. 144, 714 S.E.2d 537 (2011).

The Court also erred by considering improper matters—matters outside the four corners of the Complaint, in its Orders dismissing this action, and by elaborating on the underlying factual basis upon which this suit was brought when the parties had engaged

in no discovery, and Plaintiff had not stipulated to any matter of fact as alleged at the hearing for this matter by Defendants. Under South Carolina law, “where there is no stipulation, a representation of fact by counsel in written briefs, memoranda or made during oral argument, may not be considered by the court where it is unsupported by the record.” Cobb v. Benjamin, 325 S.C. 573, 482 S.E.2d 589, FN 2 (Ct. App. 1997).

With respect to Trustwave, the Court made a finding of fact “that SCDSIT ‘houses’ the data” and found that “[i]f the Trustwave Defendants do not own, license, or maintain the data, the statute does not apply to them” when Plaintiff made no concession that Trustwave did not maintain or own the data, and such a determination concerning Trustwave could not have been made apart from the Court’s relying on the bare assertions to that effect by counsel for Trustwave.

II. THE COURT ERRED BY DISMISSING THE CLAIMS PURSUANT TO RULE 12(B)(1), PURSUANT TO A FINDING THAT PLAINTIFF HAD NOT DEMONSTRATED LEGALLY COGNIZABLE DAMAGES/STANDING, AND PURSUANT TO THE FINDING THAT S.C. CODE ANN §1-11-490 AND §39-1-90 ARE MERELY “NOTICE” STATUTES

The Circuit Court dismissed the claims brought in this suit on four basic grounds: first, on the ground that the Court lacked subject matter jurisdiction (dismissal under SCRCP 12(b)(1)); second, on the related ground that the Plaintiff had failed to establish legally cognizable damages or failed to have standing; third, on the ground that S.C. Code Ann 1-11-490 and 39-1-90 were merely notice statutes; and fourth, on the ground that Plaintiff’s claims against the State entities are barred by the South Carolina Tort Claims Act, S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-10 *et. seq.*

A. The Circuit Court Erred by dismissing pursuant to Rule 12(b)(1).

The only issue regarding which the circuit court arguably does not have jurisdiction arises from S.C. Code Ann § 1-11-490 (H), which reads, in its entirety, “An agency that knowingly and willfully violates this section is subject to an administrative fine up to one thousand dollars for each resident whose information was accessible by reason of the breach, the amount to be decided by the Department of Consumer Affairs.” It is a well-settled principle of South Carolina law that “[w]here the language of the statute is clear and explicit, the court cannot rewrite the statute and inject matters into it that are not in the legislature's language [. . .] Under the plain meaning rule, it is not the court's place to change the meaning of a clear and unambiguous statute. The words of a statute must be given their plain and ordinary meaning without resorting to subtle or forced construction.” Georgia-Carolina Bail Bonds, Inc. v. County of Aiken, 354 S.C. 18, 24-25 579 S.E.2d 334, 337 (2003) (citations omitted). The plain meaning of §1-11-490 provides only that the “*amount*” of the “*administrative fine*” is “to be decided by the Department of Consumer Affairs” in the event of an agency being found to have “knowingly and willfully” in violation of the statute.

More importantly, the statute expressly provides, “a resident of the state who is injured by a violation of the section, in addition to and cumulae of all other rights and remedies available at law, may: (1) Institute a *civil action* to recover damages”. Hence, the statute expressly allows for a “civil action” in order to determine liability and provides only that “the amount [of the fine for a knowing violation is] to be decided by the Department of Consumer Affairs.” Finally, as a matter of law, the Administrative Law Court “has no authority to decide civil matters or to award monetary damages in

cases.” South Carolina Dept. of Consumer Affairs v. Foreclosure Specialists, Inc. 390 S.C. 182, 187, 700 S.E.2d 468, 470 (2010). (*quoting* Randolph R. Lowell, South Carolina Administrative Practice and Procedure, 152 (2d ed. 2008). Therefore, the statute, on its face and by its plain meaning, requires that the breach of this statute be decided, as a matter of fact, by the circuit court in the “civil action” for which the statute provides, and, only if the breach is determined to be knowing and willful, the amount of the compulsory fine that results from that violation is to be determined by the Department of Consumer Affairs. The circuit court still retains exclusive control over determining the fact of the breach, as well as the legal *damages* resulting from the breach. The *amount* of the *fine* alone, an entirely separate issue, and the only one within the scope of its jurisdiction conferred by the statute, is to be determined by the Department of Consumer Affairs. Accordingly, subject matter jurisdiction is conferred upon the circuit court by statute.

B. The Circuit Court Erred by Dismissing the Action for Lack of Common Law Damages

Assuming, *arguendo*, the absence of the statutory bases upon which Plaintiff brought this suit (outlined in detail in subsection C, below), Plaintiff concedes that a jurisdictional split over whether a plaintiff has asserted cognizable damages (and, by extension standing) exists under *similar* (not identical) circumstances. Nevertheless, some jurisdictions have regarded the cost of insurance against identity theft as damages by way of “mitigation,” in particular when it is reasonably certain that other persons whose information was disclosed from the same breach has been used. In Anderson v. Hannaford Bros. Co., 659 F.3d 151 (1st Cir. 2011), the First Circuit Court of Appeals found

It was foreseeable [. . .] that a customer, knowing that her credit or debit card data had been compromised and that thousands of fraudulent charges had resulted from the same security breach, would replace the card to mitigate against misuse of the card data. *It is true that the only plaintiffs to allege having to pay a replacement card fee [. . .] do not allege that they experienced any unauthorized charges to their account, but the test for mitigation is not hindsight.* Similarly, it was foreseeable that a customer who had experienced unauthorized charges to her account [. . .] would reasonably purchase insurance to protect against the consequences of data misuse.

Id. at 164-65 (Emphasis added). Hence, even though they had not *yet* experienced unauthorized charges, the Anderson Plaintiffs had asserted legally cognizable damages. Counsel for Plaintiff is unaware of any South Carolina jurisprudence directly addressing the issue.

Under South Carolina Law, however:

As a general rule, the evidence should be such as to enable the court or jury to determine the amount of damages with reasonable certainty or accuracy; and it is sufficient if they are so established. Proof of the amount of loss with absolute or mathematical certainty is not required, and *it does not matter that the determination of damages depends to some extent on the consideration of contingent events.* So, it had been held sufficient if a reasonable basis of computation is afforded, even though the result may be only approximate, or to adduce evidence which is the best the case is susceptible of under the circumstances and which will permit a reasonably close estimate of the loss.

Proctor v. Dept. of Health and Environ. Control, 368 S.C. 279, 317, 628 S.E.2d 496, 516-17 (Ct. App. 2006) (emphasis added) (internal citations and quotations omitted). Hence, under South Carolina's damages analysis, in which damages may be awarded based, to some degree, on "contingent events." South Carolina law should allow a cognizable legal claim for the cost of credit monitoring services. The person or persons who obtained the information in this breach, by the fact that the actions undertaken to acquire that information were criminal, are known to be cyber criminals. The likelihood that they will

not use the information they obtained (or sell it to persons who will) lies somewhere between slim and nonexistent, and the single year of credit monitoring the State has offered to its residents is clearly insufficient to adequately protect South Carolina Residents (Record on Appeal Vol. 1 pp. 181- 193)

Even if South Carolina law did not allow for damages predicated upon the need for credit monitoring, Plaintiff's Complaint could be amended and restructured to provide for classes of individuals in tiers based on the identifiable material loss they have suffered by having their personal identifying information stolen, e.g., those with consequentially depleted bank accounts, those with false charges in determinable amounts, etc. See, e.g. Resnick v. AvMed, Inc., 693 F.3d 1317 (11th Cir. 2013).

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