THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

G. Thomas Cooper, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2013-001096

Phillip Morgan, individually and on behalf of all similarly situated
Plaintiffs, Appellant,

v.

South Carolina Department of Revenue; South Carolina Division
of State Information Technology; the Office of the Governor of the
State of South Carolina; and Trustwave Holdings, Inc., Respondents.

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT
TRUSTWAVE HOLDINGS, INC.**

James G. Long III, Bar # 64103
Jennifer J. Hollingsworth, Bar # 73535
NEXSEN PRUET, LLC
1230 Main Street, Suite 700 (29201)
Post Office Drawer 2426
Columbia, SC 29202

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

ARGUMENTS

I. THE APPELLANT’S FAILURE TO CHALLENGE EACH BASIS FOR THE CIRCUIT COURT’S DISMISSAL OF THE ACTION REQUIRES THIS COURT TO AFFIRM THE DECISION BELOW BASED ON THE TWO ISSUE RULE.

As a critical threshold matter, the Appellant has not appealed all of the grounds established by the circuit court to dismiss the Amended Complaint against Trustwave. As a result, the Order below must be affirmed. It is well settled that “Under the two issue rule, where a decision is based on more than one ground, the appellate court will affirm unless the appellant appeals all grounds because the unappealed ground will become the law of the case.” *Jones v. Lott*, 387 S.C. 339, 346, 692 S.E.2d 900, 903 (2010). “Failure to challenge the ruling is an abandonment of the issue and precludes consideration on appeal. The unchallenged ruling, right or wrong, is the law of the case and requires affirmance.” *First Union Nat’l Bank of S.C. v. Soden*, 333 S.C. 554, 566, 511 S.E.2d 372, 378 (Ct. App. 1998) (internal citation omitted). Therefore, the Appellant bears the burden of appealing every ruling in the Order on which the circuit court based its dismissal of Trustwave. Appellant has failed to do so and this Court should affirm the Order of Dismissal under the two issue rule.

A. The Failure to Brief the Alternate Holding that the Economic Loss Rule Bars the Appellant’s Claims is Sufficient to Affirm the Order on Appeal.

The circuit court Order held that the economic loss rule bars the Appellant’s recovery in this action. The holding is clearly set forth as an independent basis for dismissal in the Order dismissing Trustwave. (R. p. 368; Order (Feb. 27, 2013)). The

Appellant candidly states in his Conclusion that he has elected not to brief the circuit court's alternative holding that the economic loss rule bars his recovery in this action. (Appellant's Br. 24). The Appellant made this election despite his recognition in his brief that the circuit court found that the economic loss rule barred recovery. (Appellant's Br. 6).

Thus, the Appellant's failure to fully brief and argue his position on the economic loss rule is fatal to his appeal. The Appellant's only reference to the rule is when he states in his Conclusion paragraph that the economic loss rule applies only to products liability actions. (Appellant's Br. 24). The Appellant's Statement of Issues on Appeal makes no reference to the ruling with regard to the economic loss rule. "Ordinarily, no point will be considered which is not set forth in the statement of issues on appeal." Rule 208(b)(1)(B), SCACR.

Moreover, nowhere in *Sapp v. Ford Motor Co.*, 386 S.C. 143, 687 S.E.2d 47 (2009), referenced by the Appellant in his Conclusion, does the South Carolina Supreme Court limit the economic loss rule to products liability actions only. The rule is discussed in the context of tort law versus contract law, and not a smaller subset of tort actions. In fact, the *Sapp* Court explains:

The purpose of the economic loss rule is to define the line between recovery in tort and recovery in contract. Contract law seeks to protect the expectancy interests of the parties. *Tort law, on the other hand, seeks to protect safety interests and is rooted in the concept of protecting society as a whole from physical harm to person or property.*

Id. at 147, 687 S.E.2d at 49. The Appellant offers no legal support for why the economic loss rule would apply narrowly to product liability cases.

The Appellant makes no specific argument as to why the economic loss rule should not apply to this type of data breach case. Many other jurisdictions facing similar

data breach cases have applied the economic loss rule to plaintiffs' claims for negligence. *See, e.g., In re TJX Cos. Retail Sec. Breach Litig.*, 564 F.3d 489, 498-99 (1st Cir. 2009) (rendering payment card information worthless was not the result of physical destruction of property); *Sovereign Bank v. BJ's Wholesale Club, Inc.*, 533 F.3d 162, 175-77, 180 (3d Cir 2008) (emphasizing that the magnetic strip data on the stolen credit cards was copied, not destroyed); *Bell v. Blizzard Entm't, Inc.*, No. 12-cv-09475-BRO-PJW, Dkt. No. 54, at *14 (C.D. Cal. July 11, 2013) (holding that Economic Loss Doctrine barred customers' negligence claim because no duty to safeguard information arose in tort, and because customers suffered mere diminution in value of their video games); *In re Sony Gaming Networks and Customer Data Sec. Breach Litig.*, 903 F.Supp.2d 942, 962 (S.D. Cal. 2012) (dismissing negligence claim because of absence of special relationship between parties); *In re Michaels Stores Pin Pad Litig.*, 830 F. Supp. 2d 518, 528-31 (N.D. Ill. 2011) (dismissing negligence claims because plaintiff did not suffer personal injury or property damage); *Pa. State Emps. Credit Union v. Fifth Third Bank*, 398 F. Supp. 2d 317, 326-30 (M.D. Pa. 2005) (granting motion to dismiss negligence claim against retailer in connection with theft of personal information from retailer's computer system because requested damages amounted to pure economic loss); *Cumis Ins. Soc'y, Inc. v. BJ's Wholesale Club, Inc.*, 918 N.E.2d 36, 47-48 (Mass. 2009) (holding that the Doctrine barred credit unions from pursuing negligence claim against retailer that had improperly stored data from individual credit cards). Given our Supreme Court's explanation that tort law exists to protect persons "from physical harm to person or property," it is appropriate for the logic underlying the economic loss rule to apply to the Appellant's claims of speculative future harm tied to the alleged loss of his personal data.

In addition, the Appellant did not preserve his challenge to the circuit court's ruling with regard to the economic loss rule in the court below and, therefore, the issue is not preserved for this Court's review. The Appellant's Motion for Reconsideration under Rule 59(e), SCRC, as well as his Amended Motion, did not identify, much less challenge, the circuit court's reliance on the economic loss rule as an independent basis for dismissal. (R. pp. 372-377, 380-384). The Appellant failed to give the circuit court the opportunity to determine whether the economic loss doctrine was inapplicable to his claims.

The losing party must first try to convince the lower court it is has ruled wrongly and then, if that effort fails, convince the appellate court that the lower court erred. This principle underlies the long-established preservation requirement that the losing party generally must both present his issues and arguments to the lower court and obtain a ruling before an appellate court will review those issues and arguments.

I'On, LLC v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000). "It is a fundamental rule of law that an appellate court will affirm a ruling by a lower court if the offended party does not challenge that ruling." *First Union Nat'l Bank of S.C.* at 566, 511 S.E.2d at 378. As a result, the Appellant's failure to preserve this issue accompanied by his failure to brief the issue on appeal leaves this Court with little choice but to affirm the circuit court's finding that the Appellant's case is barred by the economic loss rule.

B. The Appellant's Failure to Challenge the Ruling Below that the Amended Complaint Fails to Set Forth Facts to Support Causes of Action Against Trustwave for Civil Conspiracy and Negligence Require this Court to Affirm the Dismissal of Those Causes of Action.

The primary holding of the circuit court in the Order dismissing Trustwave is that the Amended Complaint fails to allege facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action against Trustwave. The Order very specifically details the elements of the causes of action, and finds that the Amended Complaint's bare and conclusory allegations are

insufficient to allow the action to proceed. The Appellant again fails to set forth any facts to support his claims and provides this Court with nothing in his appeal to challenge this ruling of the circuit court. As shown herein, the causes of action for civil conspiracy and negligence fail and dismissal must be affirmed under the two issue rule.

As to civil conspiracy, the fatal defects of the Amended Complaint are not addressed on appeal. In fact, the Appellant's brief does not discuss the civil conspiracy claim at all. Therefore, just as with the economic loss rule, the Appellant has abandoned his objection to the circuit court's dismissal of the cause of action for civil conspiracy and dismissal of that cause of action must be affirmed.

Even if this Court chose to disregard the two issue rule, the circuit court's decision to dismiss the cause of action for civil conspiracy under Rule 12(b)(6) must be affirmed. Civil conspiracy requires that the Appellant allege facts sufficient to infer "(1) a combination of two or more persons, (2) for the purpose of injuring the plaintiff, and (3) causing plaintiff special damage." *Benedict College v. Natl. Credit Sys. Inc.*, 400 S.C. 538, 545, 735 S.E.2d 518, 521 (Ct. App. 2012). "To be actionable, . . . a conspiracy's primary purpose or object must be to injure the plaintiff." *Id.* at 545, 735 S.E.2d at 522 (internal citation omitted). The Amended Complaint lacks any allegation of intent to harm between the numerous co-defendants. Moreover, the Amended Complaint lacks any factual allegations supporting special damages that are separate and distinct from the general damages alleged. *See Hackworth v. Greywood at Hammett, LLC*, 385 S.C. 110, 117, 682 S.E.2d 871, 875 (Ct. App. 2009) (requiring dismissal of the action where the plaintiff merely repeats damages arising from other claims). "A 'plaintiff's obligation to provide the grounds of his entitle[ment] to relief require more

than labels and conclusion, and a formulaic recitation of the elements of a cause of action will not do.” (R. pp. 364-365; Order Feb. 27, 2013)) (citing *Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly*, 127 S. Ct. 1955, 1964-65 (2007)). The Appellant alleges no facts to support his cause of action; choosing merely to recite the elements of the cause of action in the Amended Complaint and offering nothing further on appeal. As a result, the circuit court’s holding dismissing the cause of action for civil conspiracy is correct.

As with the claim for civil conspiracy, the Appellant does not challenge the dismissal of the claim for negligence and in particular, the circuit court’s finding that the Amended Complaint fails to “allege facts demonstrating the occurrence of three distinct elements: a duty of care owed by the defendant; a breach of that duty by negligent act or omission; and damage proximately caused thereby.” (R. p. 367; Order (Feb. 27, 2013)). The only duty alleged in the Amended Complaint purportedly arises from South Carolina Code section 39-1-90, which is the basis for the Appellant’s claim for negligence *per se*. Importantly, the Appellant does not challenge the circuit court’s specific finding that, other than section 39-1-90, the Appellant has not pled any actionable duty owed by Trustwave to the Appellant. (R. pp. 367-368; Order (Feb. 27, 2013)). Without any duty, the dismissal of the cause of action for negligence must be affirmed.

C. The Appellant Cannot Raise These Issues in Reply.

Finally, as is shown herein, it is well settled that an unappealed ruling becomes the law of the case and precludes further consideration of the issue on appeal. *See First Union Nat’l Bank of S.C.* at 566, 511 S.E.2d at 378. Likewise, issues raised only in reply and not contained in the initial brief will not present issues for this Court’s consideration. *See Glasscock, Inc. v. U.S. Fidelity and Guar. Co.*, 348 S.C. 76, 81, 557 S.E.2d 689, 692 (Ct. App. 2001) (explaining that arguments conclusory in nature are deemed abandoned

on appeal and cannot be revived in reply). As a result, the Appellant is precluded from briefing the economic loss rule, civil conspiracy, and negligence in reply. Any attempt to do so should be ignored by the Court.

II. THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY CONSIDERED ONLY THE AMENDED COMPLAINT IN DISMISSING THE CASE AGAINST TRUSTWAVE AND DISMISSAL WITH PREJUDICE PRIOR TO DISCOVERY WAS NOT ERROR.

The Appellant initially contends that the circuit court's dismissal of the Amended Complaint against Trustwave was based on facts outside the pleadings (which allegedly had the effect of turning the Motion to Dismiss into one for summary judgment), and that as a result, the dismissal was premature because the Appellant had not conducted any discovery. (Appellant's Br. 8-10). Neither contention is supported by the language of the Order.

A. The Circuit Court's Dismissal Under Rule 12(b)(6), SCRCP, was Confined to the Four Corners of the Amended Complaint and Relevant Case Law.

In support of his first contention – that the court below improperly considered facts outside the pleadings – the Appellant points first to affidavits that Trustwave attached to its Motion to Dismiss on other grounds. Trustwave's Motion to Dismiss sought dismissal of Trustwave Corporation as a party (to which Appellant stipulated); dismissal for improper service (which was denied and not appealed);¹ and dismissal for failure to state a claim under Rule 12(b)(6), SCRCP. (R. pp. 40-46; Mot. to Dismiss). A review of the Motion clearly identifies the Rule 12(b)(6) grounds for dismissal separately identified in Paragraph 14(a)-(j) of the Motion. (R. p. 43-44; Mot. to Dismiss). The

¹ The Appellant acknowledges in his Statement of the Case that the circuit court's setting aside of default against Trustwave Holdings was not appealed and that the parties consented to the dismissal of Trustwave Corporation as a party. (Appellant's Br. 5).

affidavits attached as Exhibit A and B to the Motion do not relate to the Rule 12(b)(6) dismissal grounds, and only address improper service and dismissal of Trustwave Corporation – two issues not appealed by Appellant. (R. pp. 40-43; Mot. to Dismiss). The Memorandum in Support of the Motion to Dismiss argues improper service and dismissal of Trustwave Corporation as separately stated arguments from the Rule 12(b)(6) dismissal grounds, and the affidavits only address service and the defunct Trustwave Corporation. (R. pp. 72-86; Memo. in Supp. of Mot. to Dismiss).

The transcript of the hearing on the various dismissal motions reflects references to the affidavits only during Trustwave’s arguments as to improper service. (R. pp. 253-266; Hr’g Tr. 7-20). The Order granting the motion to dismiss Trustwave pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) *never* refers to or relies upon any affidavit filed by Trustwave. Clearly, Trustwave did not submit nor did the circuit court consider affidavits when ruling upon the Motion to Dismiss on the Rule 12(b)(6) grounds. It is apparent in light of the Record and the Order, the circuit court did not convert the motion to dismiss to one for summary judgment, and would have had no basis, or need, to do so. *Contra Gilbert v. Miller*, 356 S.C. 25, 27-28, 586 S.E.2d 861, 862-63 (Ct. App. 2003) (trial correctly converted a motion to dismiss to a motion for summary judgment when the trial court considered photographs, affidavits and a lease filed in response to a motion to dismiss).

The Appellant’s second argument as to why the circuit court considered evidence outside the four corners of the Amended Complaint is likewise without merit. The Appellant contends that “the issue of what constitutes ownership and maintenance of the data in question is a question of fact to be determined through discovery.” (Appellant’s Br. 10). Initially, the only fact asserted against Trustwave in the Amended Complaint is

the following: “Upon information and belief, Defendants Trustwave and Trustwave Holdings were charged with the duty of securing personal identifying information.” (R. p. 16, ¶ 21). It is important to note that Trustwave is sued under South Carolina Code section 39-1-90 (which applies to persons conducting business in this state), while SCDOR, the Office of the Governor, and DSIT are sued under section 1-11-490 (which applies to state agencies). Each statute applies to persons or agencies that own, license, or maintain computerized data that has been compromised. S.C. Code Ann. § 39-1-90 (a)-(b). The Appellant never alleged which party owns, licenses or maintains the data at issue. At the motion hearing, without objection, counsel for SCDOR stated that DOR owned the data. (R. pp. 301, line 7; 304, lines 3-7; 307, lines 21-22; Hr’g Tr.).

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